IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACK LEON DEMARIA, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No. 97,120

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

____;

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD P. ALBERTINE, JR. ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 365610

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P.O. Box 9000-PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, JACK LEON DEMARIA, the prisoner whose Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a) motion had been denied in part by the trial court, will be referred to by name or as the petitioner, the defendant, or the prisoner herein this initial brief on the merits. Respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referred to as the respondent or the state. The symbol "R" designates the original record on appeal and includes the transcript of the hearing on Mr. DeMaria's Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a) motion as part thereof. The symbol "V" designates the volume of the record on appeal together with the number identifying the particular volume such that citation to the record on appeal will refer to the volume number and record page number, i.e., (V_, R_).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State Attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, on May 19, 1994, filed an information, in case number CF94-02221A1-XX, charging Jack Leon DeMaria, with one count of armed burglary, in violation of § 810.02(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993), and one count of grand theft, in violation of § 812.014(2)(c), Fla.

Stat. (1993), alleged to have occurred in Polk County, Florida, between June 12 and June 13, 1993. (V1, R01-03). Circuit Court Judge Joe R. Young, Jr., on August 19, 1994, in case number CF94-02221A1-XX, pursuant to negotiated plea agreement and plea of nolo contendere to lesser included charge of second degree burglary and grand theft, sentenced DeMaria to ten years in Florida state prison on each count to be served concurrently plus \$17,035.00 in restitution. (V1, R05-10, 12-14). Circuit Court Judge Cecelia M. Moore, on May 20, 1997, in case number CF94-02221A1-XX, rendered an order denying DeMaria's motion for postconviction relief, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, as time-barred, while granting a portion of the same motion for postconviction relief, treated as a Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a) motion to correct illegal sentence, and corrected the illegal ten year sentence initially imposed for the third degree grand theft adjudication of guilt to read five years incarceration. (V1, R37-38). Circuit Court Judge Robert A. Young, on April 29, 1999, in case number CF94-02221A1-XX, rendered a written order granting in part, denying in part, DeMaria's motion to correct illegal sentence. (V1, R127-39).

Mr. DeMaria timely requested that his court-appointed collateral counsel, Mario J. Cabrera, file a notice of appeal, in case number CF94-02221A1-XX, as to Judge Young's order granting in part, denying in part, DeMaria's motion to correct illegal sentence rendered on April 29, 1999. Mr. DeMaria's court-appointed collateral counsel, however, failed to do so, instead filing an untimely notice of appeal on June 3, 1999, in case number CF94-

02221A1-XX, more than thirty days after the order, sought to be appealed, had been rendered. (V1, R140). On or about September 28, 1999, Mr. DeMaria filed a motion & affidavit for leave to apply for belated appellate review which the Second District Court of Appeal denied, dismissing his appeal and certifying the question of great public importance which is the subject of this discretionary review. See Appendix-3, DeMaria v. State, No. 99-02314 (Fla. 2d DCA Oct. 27, 1999). On or about November 2, 1999, Mr. DeMaria filed a motion for rehearing or clarification to correct a scrivener's error apparent on the face to the opinion which incorrectly named Mario J. Cabrera as counsel for appellant rather than James Marion Moorman, the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit, who had been appointed for purpose of DeMaria's appeal, and undersigned counsel, who was assigned responsibility Thereafter, on November 24, 1999, notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court as to the question certified to be of great public importance was filed in the Second District Court of Appeal.

On January 5, 2000, in <u>DeMaria v. State</u>, No. 99-02314 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 5, 2000), the Second District Court of Appeal granted the pending motion for rehearing or clarification and, but for correcting the scrivener's error regarding counsel for appellant, rendered an identical order, i.e., decision, which denied DeMaria's motion & affidavit for leave to apply for belated appellate review (herein after referred to as sworn motion for leave to file belated appeal), dismissed his appeal and certified the question of great

public importance which is the subject of this discretionary review. <u>See Appendix-1, DeMaria v. State</u>, No. 99-02314 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 5, 2000); Appendix-2, order granting DeMaria's motion for rehearing or clarification, withdrawing Oct. 27, 1999 opinion, and substituting Jan. 5, 2000 opinion in lieu thereof.

This Court appears to have held in abeyance the notice to invoke discretionary review filed on November 24, 1999, referred above, until the pending motion for rehearing or clarification was disposed of by the Second District Court of Appeal's January 5, 2000 decision which superseded the court's earlier October 27, 1999 decision now withdrawn. On January 19, 2000, this Court issued an order postponing its decision on jurisdiction. In an abundance of caution, an amended notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was filed on February 4, 2000 in the Second District Court of Appeal to include the decision rendered in Mr. DeMaria's case on January 5, 2000, DeMaria v. State, No. 99-02314 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 5, 2000), which superseded the withdraw decision, DeMaria v. State, No. 99-02314 (Fla. 2d DCA Oct. 27, 1999).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The holding in Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), when considered in light of the Supreme Court of Florida's pronouncement in Steele v. Kehoe, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (Fla. May 27, 1999), does not foreclose provision of a belated appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion when the notice of appeal was not timely filed due to the ineffectiveness of counsel in the collateral proceeding. The Florida Supreme Court's due process rationale pronounced in Steele v. Kehoe, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (Fla. May 27, 1999) supports, rather than forecloses, the provision of a belated appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion where the notice of appeal had not been timely filed due to ineffectiveness of collateral counsel.

Thus, based on similar due process concerns and, further, relying on <u>State v. Trowell</u>, 739 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1999) to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Mr. DeMaria continues to assert that his sworn motion for leave to file belated appeal should have been granted after the trial court had denied in part his postconviction motion for relief and that he should be permitted to go forward with his appeal of the trial court's order thereof.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES THE HOLDING IN LAMBRIX V. STATE, 698 SO. 2D 247 (FLA. 1996), WHEN CONSIDERED IN LIGHT OF THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA'S PRONOUNCEMENT IN STEELE V. KEHOE, 24 FLA. L. WEEKLY S237 (FLA. MAY 27, 1999), FORECLOSE THE PROVISION OF A BELATED APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION WHEN THE NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS NOT TIMELY FILED DUE TO THE INEFFECTIVE OF COUNSEL IN THE COLLATERAL PROCEEDING?

No, the holding in Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), when considered in light of the Supreme Court of Florida's pronouncement in Steele v. Kehoe, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (Fla. May 27, 1999), does not foreclose the provision of a belated appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion when the notice of appeal was not timely filed due to the ineffectiveness of counsel in the collateral proceeding. The Florida Supreme Court's due process rationale pronounced in Steele v. Kehoe, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (Fla. May 27, 1999) supports, rather than forecloses, the provision of a belated appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion where the notice of appeal had not been timely filed due to ineffectiveness of collateral counsel. Thus, based on similar due process concerns, Mr. DeMaria, relying on State v. Trowell, 739 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1999) to establish ineffective assistance of counsel, asserts that his sworn motion for leave to file belated appeal should have been granted after the trial court denied in part his postconviction motion and his court-appointed collateral counsel failed to file a timely notice of appeal thereof as requested.

The Second District Court of Appeal, in <u>DeMaria v. State</u>, No. 99-02314 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 5, 2000), considered the issue of

whether DeMaria should be afforded relief in the form of a belated appeal based on his collateral counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion as timely requested and, based on <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 595, 596 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) and <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), decided the issue in the negative, denying DeMaria's sworn motion for leave to file belated appeal and dismissing his appeal:

In <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 595, 596 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), this court held that the Supreme Court of Florida's decision in <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), mandated that a defendant be afforded no relief in the form of a belated appeal based on counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion upon timely request by a defendant. We accordingly are required, under <u>Lambrix</u> and <u>Diaz</u>, to deny Demaria's motion for leave to file a belated appeal and to dismiss his appeal as having been untimely filed.

In reaching this result, we recognize that, in Steele v. Kehoe, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (Fla. May 27, 1999), the supreme court held that when a convicted defendant alleges that his or her counsel agreed to file a postconviction motion on the defendant's behalf in the trial court, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, but failed to do so in a timely manner, it is appropriate to order a hearing to determine whether a belated postconviction motion should be permitted. See 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S238. If the defendant prevails at the hearing, he or she is entitled to belatedly file a rule 3.850 motion. <u>See id</u>. The supreme court in <u>Steele</u> further modified rule 3.850(b) to expressly provide an exception to the two-year filing requirement for a rule 3.850 motion if the defendant alleges that he or she retained counsel to timely file such a motion and counsel, through neglect, failed to do so. See id. at S238-39.

Although the supreme court in <u>Steele</u> did not address the issue of whether an appellant can maintain a belated appeal under either rule 3.850 or rule 3.800 due to counsel's neglect, [FN1] we have doubt about the continued vitality of <u>Lambrix</u> and <u>Diaz</u>, in light of <u>Steele</u>. If a defendant potentially can file a belated rule 3.850 motion in the trial court due to counsel's neglect, it should follow that the defendant can file a belated appeal of the trial court's denial of a rule 3.850 or rule 3.800 motion due to counsel's neglect.

That, however, is precisely what <u>Lambrix</u> and <u>Diaz</u> preclude. We are accordingly constrained to dismiss this appeal as untimely filed based on those authorities.

<u>DeMaria v. State</u>, No. 99-02314 at slp op. 1-2 (footnote 1 omitted); <u>see Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), wherein the Florida Supreme Court, in pertinent part, held:

We do not need to reach Lambrix's claim that he should have been allowed to represent himself in the prosecution of his motion for postconviction relief. In his appeal from the denial of that motion, Lambrix did not raise the issue of whether he should have been permitted to represent himself. Lambrix has waited six years to raise this issue, well beyond the two-year time limit imposed by rule 3.850. In the meantime, Lambrix has had a number of opportunities to represent himself, including two pro se proceedings considered on their merits by this Court. See Lambrix, 529 So. 2d at 1110; Lambrix, 559 So. 2d at 1137. Furthermore, Lambrix has failed to establish that there are issues he would have raised while representing himself in his first 3.850 proceeding that have not already been raised subsequent proceedings.

Lambrix also argues that his collateral counsel's failure to appeal the trial court's denial of his request to represent himself constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. However, claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel do not present a valid basis for relief. Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S. Ct. 2765, 106 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1989); Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S. Ct. 1990, 95 L. Ed. 2d 539 (1987). In any event, in a previous pro se petition, Lambrix raised a claim of ineffective assistance of collateral counsel which was denied. Lambrix, 559 So.2d at 1138. Successive claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on different grounds are not permitted. Aldridge v. State, 503 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 1987).

<u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d at 248 (citing <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Lambrix v. Dugger</u>, 529 So. 2d 1110 (Fla. 1988). <u>See also Diaz v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), wherein the court held:

In this petition for a belated appeal filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140(j), Alfredo Heredia Diaz complains that appointed counsel failed to

file a notice of appeal, upon Diaz's timely request, from an adverse decision of the trial court on a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion for postconviction Until recently Florida courts have granted relief. relief in such circumstances upon a proper evidentiary basis. See e.g., Jones v. State, 642 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); McLeod v. State, 586 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Our supreme court, however, recently stated that such relief was inappropriate in the postconviction setting. See Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert. denied</u>, --- U.S. ----, 118 S. Ct. 1064, 140 L. Ed. 2d 125 $\overline{(1998)}$. This decision has been criticized by the majority of a divided panel of the Fifth District. See Steele v. Kehoe, 724 So. 2d 1192, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D771 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

Lambrix apparently mandates that counsel's purported failure to file a notice of appeal upon timely request by Diaz from the denial of a postconviction motion affords Diaz no relief in the form of a belated appeal. Accordingly, we deny the petition. The court in Lambrix foreclosed inquiry into the effectiveness of appellate counsel employed in a collateral proceeding for failing to brief a specific issue, whereas Diaz here hopes to resuscitate an appeal which he asserts was lost due to the negligence of trial counsel.

<u>Diaz v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d at 596. In Mr. DeMaria's case, the Second District Court of Appeal, denied DeMaria's sworn motion for leave to file belated appeal and dismissed his appeal, following the precedent in <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996) and <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 595, 596 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) to hold that DeMaria could not be afforded relief in the form of a belated appeal based on his collateral counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion although timely requested by DeMaria. The Second District Court of Appeal, nevertheless, recognized that the due process rationale announced by this Court in <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, No. 92,950, slp op. 1-4 (Fla. May 27, 1999) appeared to undercut the vitality of <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996) and <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 595,

596 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) to the extent that these cases mandated that a prisoner, such as DeMaria, could be afforded no relief in the form of belated appeal based on ineffectiveness of collateral counsel, i.e., collateral counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion although timely requested. See DeMaria v. State, No. 99-02314 at slp op. 2.

In <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, No. 92,950 (Fla. May 27, 1999), this Court, appeared to be persuaded by the Fifth District Court of Appeal's due process concerns, and held:

The district court also noted that Steele could not a claim of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel because he had no constitutional right to postconviction counsel. See Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996). The district court, however, believed that Steele should not be precluded from seeking some form of relief. It considered what possible remedies are available under due process to a prisoner who has relied on his or her attorney to pursue postconviction relief and the attorney failed to timely file a motion for relief within the two-year period. With respect to this issue, the district court found that "[i]f a prisoner is denied the opportunity to challenge his conviction under an appropriate rule only because of the negligence of his attorney, then due process requires a belated filing procedure similar to that allowed in belated appeals." Steele, 724 So. 2d at 1194. The district court noted that the issue in such a proceeding would be whether the attorney was retained to file a postconviction motion, but failed to do so in a timely manner. The district court held that, if counsel is determined have failed to timely file to postconviction motion, then our procedure should permit the defendant to belatedly file the motion.

In a concurring opinion, Judge Sharp suggested that Steele was entitled under due process to seek the remedy afforded by the majority by petitioning for a writ of habeas corpus. Judge Sharp noted that the use of habeas corpus under the circumstances appeared to be authorized under rule 3.850(h). Judge Sharp also noted that habeas corpus is similarly available to pursue belated appeals.

BELATED MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF We now address the issue regarding the right to

belatedly file a motion for postconviction relief. In this Court's decision in State v. Weeks, 166 So. 2d 892, 896 (Fla. 1964), we made clear that "[postconviction] remedies are subject to the more flexible standards of Amendment, process announced in the Fifth Constitution of the United States." For example, although a prisoner has no Sixth Amendment right to postconviction counsel, in Weeks and Graham v. State, 372 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1979), we held that due process required the appointment of postconviction counsel when a prisoner filed a substantially meritorious postconviction motion and a hearing on the motion was potentially so complex that the assistance of counsel was needed.

We agree with the district court below that due process entitles a prisoner to a hearing on a claim that he or she missed the deadline to file a rule 3.850 motion because his or her attorney had agreed to file the motion but failed to do so in a timely manner. We hold that, if the prisoner prevails at the hearing, he or she is authorized to belatedly file a rule 3.850 motion challenging his or her conviction or sentence. We also agree with Judge Sharp's concurring opinion that the prisoner's claim under these specific circumstances should be presented to the court in a petition for writ of habeas corpus, which would not be barred under rule 3.850(h) because it would come within the final clause thereof. See Ward v. Dugger, 508 So. 2d 778, 779 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)(construing a prisoner's letter to the district court as a habeas petition and finding that the prisoner "might be entitled to file a belated motion for postconviction relief if the actions of her attorney had frustrated her intention to file such a motion in a timely fashion").

For the reasons expressed, we answer the rephrased certified questions in the affirmative, approve the decision below, and disapprove <u>Martin v. Pafford</u>, 583 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). Steele is entitled to petition the circuit court for a writ of habeas corpus. Upon receiving the petition, the court will conduct a hearing on whether Kehoe undertook to file a rule 3.850 motion on Steele's behalf, but failed to timely file the motion. If Steele prevails at the hearing, he will have the right to belatedly file a rule 3.850 motion.

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