IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JACK LEON DEMARIA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 97,120

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN AND FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa
Florida Bar No. 238538

PATRICIA A. McCARTHY
Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 0331163 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2367 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts set forth in statement of the case and facts of the Amended Initial Brief on the Merits are substantially accurate, with the following additions:

The circuit court denied DeMaria's March 1997, motion for postconviction relief and his May 1997 "motion for clarification and withdrawal of plea" as time-barred by separate orders. (V 1 R 33-39) On August 24, 1998, DeMaria filed a motion to correct illegal sentence pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a). (V 1 R 47-70) The state filed a response and DeMaria replied. (V 1 R 78-98)

On March 31, 1999, DeMaria filed a motion to withdraw plea under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.170(f). (V 1 R 100-102) A hearing was held on April 1, 1999, in which argument was heard and no testimony taken. (V 1 R 103-125) The circuit court addressed DeMaria's rule 3.800(a) motion and also found his motion to withdraw his plea pursuant to rule 3.170(f) unavailing in an "order granting, in part, denying in part, defendant's motion to correct illegal sentence [3.800(a)]" filed on April 29, 1999. (V 1 R 127-129)

STATEMENT REGARDING TYPE

The size and style of type used in this brief is 12-point Courier New, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court's decision in Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert. denied</u>, ___ U.S. ___, 118 S.Ct. 1064, 140 L.Ed.2d 125 (1998), forecloses DeMaria's claim that ineffective assistance of his collateral counsel warrants a belated appeal of an order denying, in part, a motion pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a). There is no due process guarantee of counsel's effectiveness in perfecting a state postconviction appeal, and thus, the district court's decision dismissing DeMaria's untimely appeal of an order denying, in part, a motion to correct illegal sentence does not conflict with this Court's decisions in Steele v. Kehoe, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (Fla. May 27, 1999), or State v. Trowell, 739 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1999). Neither the Sixth Amendment guarantee of effective assistance of counsel nor the Due Process Clause is offended by requiring a postconviction movant such as DeMaria, who has been afforded an opportunity to present his claims in a rule 3.800(a) motion, to bear the risk of attorney error pertaining to perfection and/or prosecution of a collateral appeal. Therefore, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction in this case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE: DOES THE HOLDING IN LAMBRIX V. STATE, 698 So. 2d 247 (FLA. 1996), WHEN CONSIDERED IN LIGHT OF STEELE V. KEHOE, 24 FLA. L. WEEKLY S237 (FLA. MAY 27, 1999), FORECLOSE THE PROVISION OF A BELATED APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION WHEN THE NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS NOT TIMELY FILED DUE TO INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL IN THE COLLATERAL PROCEEDING?

DeMaria argues that <u>Lambrix v. State</u>, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert. denied</u>, __ U.S. __, 118 S.Ct. 1064, 140 L.Ed.2d 125 (1998), does not foreclose a belated collateral appeal which is sought on the basis of ineffective assistance of collateral counsel. The state responds that the <u>Lambrix</u> decision precludes a claim by a noncapital movant, such as DeMaria's, that his collateral counsel was ineffective in perfecting a postconviction appeal.

In Lambrix, a prisoner under sentence of death sought postconviction relief based upon his collateral counsel's failure to appeal a particular issue. This Court held that "claims of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel do not present a valid basis for relief." Id. at 248. In so holding, this Court in Lambrix set forth a marker, illuminating the line between challenges based on ineffectiveness of trial counsel and claims spawned from the collateral quest itself. As such, the Lambrix decision afforded a measure of finality to the extent of limiting collateral attacks grounded on the effectiveness of a movant's

representation in the postconviction arena.

The demarcation recognized in <u>Lambrix</u> was established in the United States Supreme Court's decisions in <u>Pennsylvania v. Finley</u>, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987)(holding that the right to appointed counsel extends to the first appeal as a matter of right and no further), and <u>Murray v. Giarratano</u>, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S.Ct. 2765, 106 L.Ed.2d 1 (1989)(applying <u>Finley</u> to inmates under sentence of death).

Sub judice, the Lambrix holding precludes DeMaria's claim of ineffectiveness of his postconviction counsel in perfecting an appeal from a rule 3.800(a) order. Because a claim that postconviction counsel failed to raise an issue on collateral appeal is not cognizable in a postconviction proceeding, DeMaria's claim that his collateral counsel was ineffective for failing to file a timely notice of appeal of an order pursuant to rule 3.800 (a) does not constitute a cognizable claim for relief.

DeMaria states that he may not have had a Sixth Amendment right to counsel to pursue his postconviction motion. (Initial Brief at p. 21) Nonetheless, DeMaria argues that he should be entitled under due process to seek a belated appeal pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(j), based on sworn allegations that his courtappointed collateral counsel, although timely requested, failed to file a timely notice of appeal of an order denying, in part, his 3.800(a) motion. Finding support in this Court's pronouncements in

Steele v. Kehoe, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S237 (Fla. May 27, 1999), DeMaria argues that due process standards of the Fifth Amendment should be applied to his motion seeking a belated appeal of the order on his rule 3.800(a) motion. The state responds that a criminal defendant such as DeMaria is not guaranteed under the Due Process Clause a right of effective assistance of collateral counsel in appealing an order pursuant to rule 3.800.

Steele involved a civil malpractice action in which a prisoner serving life in prison alleged that his privately retained appellate attorney negligently failed to file a timely motion for postconviction relief under rule 3.850 on his behalf, despite an oral agreement. Determining that appellate or postconviction relief is a prerequisite to maintaining a legal malpractice action, the Court in Steele went on to address the matter of a right to belatedly file a 3.850 motion. This Court concluded that when a prisoner alleges his attorney agreed to file a rule 3.850 motion but failed to do so in a timely manner, due process entitles the prisoner to a hearing to determine whether a belated postconviction motion should be permitted. Id.

Previous to the <u>Steele</u> decision, the Second District in <u>Diaz</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 595, 596 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), had held that

<u>Lambrix</u> mandated a defendant be afforded no relief in the form of
a belated appeal based on counsel's failure to file a notice of
appeal from the denial of a postconviction motion, upon timely

request by a defendant. In dismissing DeMaria's untimely appeal, the district court <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u> expressed its doubt about the continued vitality of <u>Lambrix</u> and <u>Diaz</u> in light of <u>Steele</u>. <u>DeMaria v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D101 (Fla. 2d DCA January 5, 1999).

This Court's decision in <u>Steele</u> does not compel any provision for a belated postconviction appeal where a collateral attorney is charged with, or even concedes, that a timely postconviction appeal was not instituted as requested. DeMaria stands in a different posture than a defendant such as Steele, in that DeMaria does not allege that he was denied access to a rule 3.850 motion or rule 3.800 motion due to attorney error. The difference in the belated collateral remedy sought compels a different result in this case. The Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution does not guarantee that a collateral movant such as DeMaria have the effective assistance of counsel at the appellate stage of the postconviction proceedings.

Relying upon <u>State v. Trowell</u>, 739 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1999), DeMaria contends that a prisoner, such as DeMaria, should be entitled to a belated appeal under Fla.R.App.P. 9.140(j) if the prisoner alleges in a sworn motion seeking leave to file a belated appeal that a timely request of collateral counsel was not honored. This Court in <u>Trowell</u> held that an appellate court should grant a petition seeking a belated appeal if the defendant alleges that a timely request of counsel to file the notice of appeal was made and

that counsel failed to do so. <u>Id.</u> at 81. <u>Trowell</u>, however, involved the issue of what allegations a defendant who pleaded guilty must include in a petition seeking a belated <u>direct</u> appeal from his guilty plea. It did not address a belated appeal of an order on a postconviction motion, as in DeMaria's case. Because the case <u>sub judice</u> does not present a claim of denial of effectiveness of counsel in perfecting a first appeal of right, the constitutional concerns enunciated by this Court in <u>Trowell</u> do not govern DeMaria's motion seeking a belated postconviction appeal.¹

The Fourteenth Amendment guarantees a criminal defendant the right to counsel on first appeal as of right. See Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353, 83 S. Ct. 814, 9 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1963). This guarantee has been interpreted to require that counsel pursuing a first appeal render effective assistance in Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 391-392, 105 S. Ct. 830, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821

¹Just recently, the United States Supreme Court addressed the proper framework for evaluating an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on counsel's failure to file a notice of appeal in Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 2000 WL 201148 (U.S. No. 98-1441, February 23, 2000). The Court in Roe held that Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984), applies to claims that counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to file a notice of appeal. Roe, similar to Trowell, involved a belated appeal from a plea. It did not address a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel for failing to file a timely notice of appeal from a postconviction ruling. This Court need not determine in this case whether Roe has a direct impact on Trowell because DeMaria is not entitled to effective assistance of counsel in perfecting his collateral appeal.

 $(1985).^{2}$

In contrast, the United States Supreme Court has held that the Fourteenth Amendment does not require appointed counsel to indigent defendants seeking discretionary, second-tier, appellate review.

Wainwright v. Torna, 455 U.S. 586, 71 L. Ed. 2d 475, 102 S. Ct. 1300 (1982)(holding that since, under Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 41 L. Ed. 2d 341, 94 S. Ct. 2437 (1974), the appellant had no constitutional right to counsel on a discretionary appeal, he was not deprived of effective assistance of counsel by his retained counsel's failure to timely file an application for certiorari in the Supreme Court of Florida).

In 1974, this Court held that an attorney's failure to seek a writ of certiorari or alternatively to notify his client of his

The United States Supreme Court has consistently pointed out that there is no federal constitutional right of criminal defendants to a direct appeal. See Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. at 393, 105 S.Ct. at 834 ("Almost a century ago the Court held that the Constitution does not require States to grant appeals as of right to criminal defendants seeking to review alleged trial court errors."). Accord Abney v. United States, 431 U.S. 651, 656, 97 S.Ct. 2034, 2038-39, 52 L.Ed.2d 651 (1977); Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 94 S.Ct. 2437, 41 L.Ed.2d 341 (1974).

In <u>State v. Creighton</u>, 469 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 1985), this Court stated that there was no right to appeal set forth in our state's constitution. In <u>Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure</u>, 696 So. 2d 1103, 1104 (Fla. 1996), this Court receded from <u>Creighton</u> to the extent that the Court construed the language of article V, section 4(b) as a constitutional protection of the right to appeal. Stating that "the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights, the Court concluded that legislature could reasonably condition the right to appeal upon the preservation of a prejudicial error or the assertion of a fundamental error. <u>Id.</u> at 1104.

right to apply for it does not constitute a violation of the client's right to appeal. In so holding, this Court specifically held that certiorari is limited to specific situations and is discretionary with the Court. See Rhome v. State, 293 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 1974). Thus, a criminal defendant in Florida has neither a state-based nor a federal constitutional right to claim a violation of his appellate rights when his attorney has failed to preserve his opportunity to seek discretionary review in this Court.

Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has not interpreted the Due Process Clause to guarantee effectiveness of counsel on postconviction appeal. In <u>Coleman v. Thompson</u>, 501 U.S. 722, 111 S.Ct. 2546, 115 L.Ed.2d 640 (1991), the United States Supreme Court rejected a federal habeas petitioner's contention that collateral counsel's late filing of a notice of appeal of the denial of his state habeas application was the result of attorney error of sufficient magnitude to excuse the default. The Court reasoned as follows:

There is no constitutional right to an attorney in state post-conviction proceedings. Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987); Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 109 S.Ct. 2765, 106 L.Ed.2d 1 (1989) (applying the rule to capital cases). Consequently, a petitioner cannot claim constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel in such proceedings. See Wainwright v. Torna, 455 U.S. 586, 102 S.Ct. 1300, 71 L.Ed.2d 475 (1982) (where there is no constitutional right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance). Coleman contends that it was his attorney's error that led to the late filing of his state habeas appeal. This error cannot be constitutionally ineffective; therefore Coleman must

"bear [501 U.S. 753] the risk of attorney error that results in a procedural default."

<u>Coleman</u>, 111 S.Ct. at 2566.

In deciding that Coleman did not have a constitutional right to counsel on appeal of a state collateral determination, the Court in <u>Coleman</u> necessarily rejected the notion that due process principles require counsel in the taking of a collateral appeal thus:

Coleman has had his "one and only appeal," if that is what a state collateral proceeding may be considered; the Buchanan County Circuit Court, after a 2-day evidentiary hearing, addressed Coleman's claims of trial error, including his ineffective assistance of counsel claims. What Coleman requires here is a right to counsel on appeal from that determination. Our case law will not support it.

In Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 94 S.Ct. 2437, 41 L.Ed.2d 341 (1974), and Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551, 107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539 (1987), we declined to extend the right to counsel beyond the first appeal of a criminal conviction. We held in Ross that neither the fundamental fairness required by the Due Process Clause nor the Fourteenth Amendment's equal protection quarantee necessitated that States provide counsel in state discretionary appeals where defendants already had one appeal as of right. "The duty of the State under our cases is not to duplicate the legal arsenal that may be privately retained by a criminal defendant in a continuing effort to reverse his conviction, but only to assure the indigent defendant an adequate opportunity to present his claims fairly in the context of the State's appellate process." 417 U.S., at 616, 94 S.Ct., at Similarly, in <a>Finley we held that there is no 2447. right to counsel in state collateral proceedings after exhaustion of direct appellate review. 481 U.S., at 556, 107 S.Ct., at 1993-1994 (citing Ross, supra).

These cases dictate the answer here. Given that a criminal defendant has no right to counsel beyond his first appeal in pursuing state discretionary or

collateral review, it would defy logic for us to hold that Coleman had a right to counsel [501 U.S. 757] to appeal a state collateral determination of his claims of trial error.

Coleman, 111 S.Ct. at 2568 (emphasis supplied).

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